NO. 45662-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MATHEW DELANO GIPSON
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

The Honorable Jennifer Forbes, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LISE ELLNER
Attorney for Appellant

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090
WSB #20955

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court's refusal to permit cross examination of relevant facts not raised by the prosecutor on direct examination violated appellant's confrontation clause rights under both the state and federal constitutions.

2. Gipson was denied his constitutional right to present a defense by the trial court's wholesale restriction on his ability to present facts relevant to his defense.

3. The trial court erred by imposing an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor retaliating against a public officer where there were no public officers involved in this case, but rather peace officers not defined for the jury and not found to be involved in Gipson's case.

Issues Presented on Appeal

1. Was the trial court's refusal to permit cross examination of relevant facts not raised by the prosecutor on direct examination, a violation of appellant's confrontation clause rights under both the state and federal constitutions?

2. Was Gipson denied his constitutional right to present a defense by the trial court's wholesale restriction on his ability to present facts

relevant to his defense?

3. Did the trial court err by imposing an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor retaliating against a public officer where there were no public officers involved in this case, but rather peace officers not defined for the jury and not found to be involved in Gipson's case?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Procedural Facts.

Gipson was charged and convicted of two counts of assault against a police officer and one count of attempting to disarm a police officer, each with the aggravating factor that the crimes were committed in retaliation of the public officer's performing his duties. RCW 9.94A.535 (x) CP 140-152.

b. Trial Facts

Officer Wofford was training a new officer, Horsley, when they received a dispatch to the MoonDogs Tavern regarding a bar fight involving 4-5 women. RP 219, 231-232, 340. On arrival at the scene, Wofford saw 4 -5 women leaving the area but he did not investigate. Bentley, the security bouncer for MoonDogs had detained the victim of the fight inside the Tavern for her own protection and handed her over to the police who promptly

arrested her without investigation. RP 160-161, 174-175. A crowd of 30-200 people, depending on whether Wofford (150-200), Horsley (30-50) or Bentley (50-70) was accurate, were milling about. RP 162, 238, 243, 310, 332-333, 360.

Fortin and Gipson, along with the crowd, were yelling to the police that they were arresting the wrong person. RP 162, 238, 243, 310, 332-333, 360; CP 1-4. Fortin the arrested woman's boyfriend was arrested, and Gipson, a friend of Fortin's became quite upset and kept yelling at the police that they were arresting the wrong people. RP 162, 163, 166, 238. Wofford told Gipson to leave 4-5 times and threatened to arrest Gipson if he did not leave the area. RP 242. Gipson did not leave, and Bentley decided to grab Gipson to calm him down, but in fact held Gipson while Horsley and Wofford grabbed Gipson to arrest him. RP 166, 184-185, 244.

Gipson yelled "fuck no", spun around, and Wofford took Gipson to the ground and landed on top of him face to face. RP 248-250. Wofford testified that while he was on the ground on top of Gipson, Gipson punched him in the face. Horsley and Bentley testified that they did not see Gipson strike Wofford. RP 196-197, 251, 348. Wofford did not write in his report that Gipson punched him, and the statement of probable cause did not contain

this information. RP 347; CP 1-4.

Wofford testified that Gipson slid his left hand in between their bodies and tried to grab Wofford's holster. RP 253, 257. Horsley never saw Gipson grab the holster and Horsley was holding and pulling hard on Gipson's left arm at the same time Wofford indicated that Gipson was grabbing his gun. RP 253, 353-354. Horsley could not determine if his pulling on Gipson's arm and banging Wofford holster into the ground could have felt like someone grabbing the holster. RP 433. Horsley who was holding on to Gipson never heard Gipson tell Wofford "I'm going to get you", but Wofford testified that Gipson made this statement. RP 312, 314, 349.

Bentley testified that he saw Gipson put his hand on the gun, but the statement of probable cause indicated that when Wofford yelled "he has my gun", Gipson said, "no" or "whoa". CP 1-4. Wofford testified that Gipson said "whoa". RP 256. Another officer, Morrison, stepped into the scene and tased Gipson several times until Wofford was able to place Gipson in handcuffs. RP 256, 338, 339.

c. Denial Of Cross-Examination 1

. Defense counsel was prohibited from asking any questions about the entire scene at MoonDogs leading up to the arrest of Gipson. RP 266-289. For example, (1) defense counsel was not allowed to cross examine on the fact that the crowd was telling the police they were arresting the wrong people. RP 318-320; (2) the Court ordered that defense not ask any questions about police aggression or wrong doing unless they produced an expert. RP 320-321. The court further ordered defense not to use the terms “justified” or “proper” unless they produced an expert. RP 323. The court also refused to permit defense counsel to cross-examine Wofford about his police report or to ask any questions not asked on direct examination. RP 266-289.

BY MORRISON

Q. Okay. So let's go back to the night of this incident. You were riding with Officer Horsley?

A. Yes.

Q. And you were his field training officer, right?

A. Yes.

Q. You were in the passenger seat?

A. Yes.

Q. You receive a call from dispatch indicating that there are four or five females in a fight at the MoonDogs?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you immediately respond there?

A. We did.

1 Counsel acknowledges the great length of this portion of the transcript, but feels it is essential to include this portion to permit this Court to understand the scope of the confrontation clause violation.

Q. Okay. Can you tell the jury what came to your

Q. Okay. So let's go back to the night of this incident. You were riding with Officer Horsley?

A. Yes.

Q. And you were his field training officer, right?

A. Yes.

Q. You were in the passenger seat?

A. Yes.

Q. You receive a call from dispatch indicating that there are four or five females in a fight at the MoonDogs?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you immediately respond there?

A. We did.

Q. Okay. Can you tell the jury what came to your

THE COURT: Okay. The objection is sustained. You can bring back the jury.

MORRISON: Your Honor, if I may. I need to make a record. It is our position that -- I would ask, can we excuse the officer during this?

THE COURT: Can you step outside, please. (Officer exits courtroom.)

MORRISON: The State is claiming that my client incited this situation and that he was the one that was getting the crowd all incited. We're arguing that's not the case. My client isn't the one. It was actually Officer Wofford. He had information when he first arrived upon the scene that there were four to five individual ladies who had gotten into an altercation in the bar.

Upon his arriving at the scene, he sees these four to five individuals. But he doesn't just see them, he notices something quite peculiar about them. These individuals with the lights flashing and based on his training and experience, the fact that they did not look at him made him believe that somehow

they were involved. But he didn't use that information. He came and arrested somebody without asking a single question at that point in time. That is our entire theory of the case.

It is our position that this officer's testimony is based on the fact that he needs to substantiate what his actions were and we can show that his actions were wrong. If we can't argue this, then you're depriving Gipson of putting on his entire theory of the case and evidence that supports it. If the Court is going to say how it's not relevant, I would like to know. But it is relevant. I would ask, Your Honor, to please allow us to put on our theory of the case and give him a fair shot here because it is relevant.

THE COURT: I'm not seeing how his not responding to four people walking away incited the actions that followed. I'm not seeing that. You're not making that connection for me.

MORRISON: What I'm saying, right, is he had information. He had information that there's four to five females that were in a fight. He sees four females walking away. The lights are flashing and it drew his attention, why are these people not looking at me? And it turns out these people were actually involved in the fight.

THE COURT: I understand that. You don't have to restate the facts again to me. Tell me how that incited anything that happened.

MORRISON: Well, the reason that everyone was -- the reason Fortin and Gipson were directing their attention to the officers and yelling was they're saying, you're arresting the wrong people. It's those people leaving that are the ones who did this, not her. It's them. They're pointing, hey -- he didn't want to hear it.

THE COURT: You don't have an expert to testify that the officer did anything improper in terms of policy, procedure or the law. So I'm not sure that you have any basis to proceed with some argument that Officer Wofford did anything improper under the law.

MORRISON: I'm putting the entire situation into context. With all of this context, I'm going to show that he's been untruthful and that none of this stuff that he says happened how he says it happened. And I can prove it. I've got it. I can do it. If you just let me put on my case. If you're going to limit what's in his police reports, for goodness sakes, this is what he wrote in response to this. And you're telling me I can't ask him what he put in the report. That's essentially what you're saying.

THE COURT: Impeachment on a collateral

matter is not impeachment on a substantive issue, which is what you're supposed to be going for.

MORRISON: Well, he's training this individual, which he testified to. And when you see something like that in the vehicle, he's passing this information on. He's sitting there telling him earlier --

THE COURT: The objection is sustained. You can bring back the jury.

THE BAILIFF: Would you like the officer, too?

THE COURT: Yes, please.

MORRISON: I can't even ask if he saw four to five females leaving?

THE COURT: We're not going to go into anything other than what he testified to on direct.

MORRISON: He testified to that.

THE COURT: He did not testify to that on direct. The testimony I picked up, I believe, at the

point where he says Fortin on the ground and draws his attention to the defendant.

MORRISON: So anything that anybody -- anything that other people saw that he didn't testify to, I can't even ask him about?

THE COURT: You're trying to create evidence to impeach him. That's inappropriate.

MORRISON: I'm not creating it. It's in his report.

THE COURT: He didn't testify to it on direct, so you're impeaching him on what he testified to on direct.

The jury's coming in.

MORRISON: His report should be in there.

(The following occurred in the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: The objection is sustained. Morrison.

BY MORRISON:

Q. You received a call indicating that there were four or five females that were in an altercation at the bar, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So was it your goal to apprehend everyone who was involved in this incident while going to the bar?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection, relevance.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MORRISON:

Q. What was your goal while going to the

A. My goal was to watch Officer Horsley and to see how conducted an investigation.

Q. And you testified earlier that it's your job to enforce the law, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you received a call indicating that there was

fighting going on, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you indicated to the jury that fighting in public constitutes the breaking of the law, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And so your purpose of going to the bar is to investigate this fighting, correct?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MORRISON:

Q. And in doing so, you already have information that there's four to five people involved, correct?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MORRISON:

Q. And were you looking for those four to five people in

your investigation to do your job?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Relevance. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MORRISON: His job is relevant.

THE COURT: Morrison, move on.

MORRISON: Okay.

BY MORRISON:

Q. So you go to the bar and your initial job you stated earlier was that you're there to observe, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Let's step back a little bit.

How many times have you testified on the stand?

A. In my life?

Q. Correct.

A. That's a good question.

Q. Just an estimate.

A. Yeah, it's difficult. Because Superior Court, not very often. Less than five in Superior Court.

Q. Okay.

A. Considerably more in the municipal court, but I would say less than 30 times in municipal court. Not too frequent.

Q. Over a 13-year career as an officer at the City of Port Orchard,

Q. And you wrote -- you stated you wrote your report chronologically?

A. As best as I could, yes.

Q. Prior to this you indicated that there was a riot awhile back during your career in the City of Port Orchard?

A. I didn't call it a riot. The entire block filled with people fighting. I guess --

Q. Fighting over what?

A. Well, that's a good question. What do people fight about? We never determined -- I don't even rememb

determining what that was about. I remember that we had a call for everybody to come to our assistance, and luckily it was shift change at the sheriff's office and they brought a lot of cars. I want to say there was ten to 12 cars at least that came down there for that.

Q. So you called for backup, but you didn't assist? You called for backup, but you didn't assist?

MS. MONTGOMERY: I'm objecting for relevance at this point.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MORRISON: It was on direct examination.

THE COURT: Move on, Morrison.

MORRISON :Q. So you testified earlier that your goal was just to observe?

A. That is the goal, yes.

Q. So you arrive -- can you write on your diagram there exactly where you parked the vehicle or where Officer Horsley parked the vehicle on there.

MS. MONTGOMERY: I'm going to object to the term "exactly." This is clearly not a scale drawing, so just for purposes of our record.

THE COURT: If you can rephrase,

RP 266-276

BY MORRISON:

Q. On direct examination you stated your goal was that you wanted to observe and train Officer Horsley?

A. Yes.

Q. In addition, you also testified that your goal was to determine what happened, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. When you arrived, when you initially arrived, you immediately arrested a young lady, correct?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Based on my prior --

THE COURT: Sustained. Sustained Move on, Morrison.

BY MORRISON:

Q. Did you come into contact with anybody when you first arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: Sustained, Morrison.

MORRISON: Your Honor, I would ask to take this outside of the presence of the jury.

THE COURT: Denied. Move along.

BY MORRISON:

Q. So when you first arrived at the scene, who did you talk to?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MORRISON: He testified on direct that he --

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection to speaking objections.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Move on, Morrison.

BY MORRISON:

Q. Did you talk to anybody when you arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. BY MORRISON:

Q. Did you do anything when you arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: If you can narrow the scope of the timeframe, Morrison.

MORRISON: Your Honor, I need to make a record outside the presence of the jury –

THE COURT: Denied. Move along, Morrison. You've made your record.

BY MORRISON:

Q. So when you arrived, where did you go?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Your Honor, I'm going to lodge the same objection.

THE COURT: We could focus in --

MORRISON: I need to ask some questions.

THE COURT: Morrison, you've been advised as to proper timeframe. You need to focus on the proper timeframe. You need to move to that point.

MORRISON: I'm not sure what that timeframe is.

THE COURT: Okay. Going to have the jury step out, please.

THE COURT: Morrison, you were advised that the scope of the direct commenced when the officer indicated that he observed Fortin on the ground and he drew his attention to the defendant from his behavior. That is the beginning of the fact pattern as to what happened on the 19th. That was the limit of the scope of direct.

MORRISON: You can't limit me on that.

THE COURT: I can too.

MORRISON: It's error. That is error.

You are limiting our ability --

THE COURT: Morrison, I ruled.

MORRISON: -- to put on our case, Your Your Honor. That's not fair. You're picking sides.

THE COURT: No, Morrison. I've limited you in accordance with the rules of evidence. If you want to look them over --

MORRISON: I have looked them over. And you know darn well --

THE COURT: Bring the jury back.

MORRISON: Please allow me to make my record for the Court of Appeals.

THE COURT: You've made your record, Morrison.

MORRISON: I have not completely.

You're picking sides here. You're limiting a officer's report.

THE COURT: Morrison, the entire scope of a police report is not relevant necessarily in a trial, and you well know that.

MORRISON: Do you know the facts?

THE COURT: Morrison, do not argue with me. Let me make very clear to you, you should know the rules of evidence. The State limited the scope of their direct, they're entitled to do so. That doesn't open it up for you to go down any path you choose to, and that's the situation.

MORRISON: They can't hide evidence for the sole purpose of not allowing me not to talk about it.

THE COURT: What evidence are they hiding?

MORRISON: They're hiding the fact that he knew darn well that he comes straight up and arrests somebody. They came out --

THE COURT: How is that relevant?

MORRISON: He testified that -- he said that you arrested the wrong person. Well, who is this person? He testified to it.

THE COURT: How is that relevant whatsoever?
MORRISON: I can go into it. He testified on the stand.
You're telling me I can't go
into what that meant, you arrested the wrong person.
Is that what you're saying?
THE COURT: What I'm telling you is you need
to stick to what is relevant.
MORRISON THE COURT: Well, I disagree.
You can bring back the jury.: It is relevant.

The objection is sustained. Morrison.
BY MORRISON:
Q. What's the first thing that you did in response to
this situation?
MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Same objection.
THE COURT: Rephrase your question,
Morrison.
BY MORRISON:
Q. Let's start with, did you pepper-spray someone?
MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Beyond the
scope.
THE COURT: Sustained.
MORRISON: All right.

RP 279-284

Q. From the very beginning, could you tell me what
Officer Horsley did? What was the first thing that
he did under your guidance?
MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection, Your Honor.
It's irrelevant.
THE COURT: Overruled.
A. It wasn't under my guidance. I don't know how
Officer Morrison and Officer Horsley came into
contact with Fortin. I wasn't there at that
moment.
BY MORRISON:
Q. You weren't watching over him? You weren't --
MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection, Your Honor.

This is irrelevant. It goes beyond the scope.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Move on.

BY MORRISON:

Q. Did you ever have an opportunity to assist Officer Horsley in any way?

A. Yes, I assisted in getting the subject on the ground into custody.

Q. Okay. What subject was that?

A. I didn't know at the time, I learned later it was Fortin.

Q. And what were your actions in assisting?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Irrelevant and beyond the scope.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MORRISON:

Q. So we can't talk about anything other than Gipson.

THE COURT: Morrison.

BY MORRISON:

Q. So I'm going to limit my questions to Gipson.

MS. MONTGOMERY: Your Honor, I move to strike and ask the jury to disregard.

THE COURT: Sustained. The jury will disregard.

A. Well, I was watching their back. I was making sure that they weren't attacked or confronted, you know, to their back while they're dealing with one person. So I'm literally watching their back.

Q. So you were never really actually assisting them?

A. No, I didn't say that. You said what was I doing at that point. At that point, I was watching their back.

Q. Didn't you testify on direct that you were assisting them, and he drew your attention towards him by yelling?

A. I did eventually assist them, and he did draw my attention, yes.

Q. So you told him four or five times to stop?

MS. MONTGOMERY: I'm going to object and ask that we don't use pronouns. There's lots of people here. Are we talking about Gipson?

THE COURT: Morrison, just if you could clarify, please.

MORRISON: Very well.

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