NO. 45662-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW DELANO GIPSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 12-1-00757-6

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Lise Ellner Po Box 2711 Vashon, WA 98070-2711

Email: liseellnerlaw@comcast.net

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

This Court reviews claimed errors on an improper scope of examination for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Hakimi*, 124 Wn.

⁵ The discussion at 1RP 27 pertains to the voir dire. Presumably this reference is a typo.

App. 15, 19, 98 P.3d 809 (2004). Washington trial courts have "broad discretion 'to conduct [a] trial with dignity, decorum and dispatch and [to enable it to] maintain impartiality." Hakimi, 124 Wn. App. at 19 (quoting State v. Johnson, 77 Wn.2d 423, 426, 462 P.2d 933 (1969)) (editing the Court's). It is the general rule in both civil and criminal cases that the cross-examination of a witness is limited to the scope of the direct examination. State v. Hobbs, 13 Wn. App. 866, 868, 538 P.2d 838, review denied, 85 Wn.2d 1019 (1975). In defining the scope of crossexamination, trial courts should limit it "to the subject matter of the direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the witness. The court may, in the exercise of discretion, permit inquiry into additional matters as if on direct examination." ER 611(b); State v. Ayala, 108 Wn. App. 480, 486, 31 P.3d 58 (2001), review denied, 145 Wn.2d 1031 (2002) (limiting cross to scope of direct did not violate Confrontation Clause). Moreover, the Confrontation Clause only guarantees an opportunity for crossexamination, not cross-examination that is effective to the manner and extent that the defense may wish. Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S. Ct. 292, 88 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1985). The scope of cross-examination thus lies in the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed unless there is a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 20, 691 P.2d 929 (1984).

During the cross-examination of Wofford, Gipson asked about the women who were in the fight with Maxwell:

Can you tell the jury what came to your attention while you were arriving at the scene regarding four or five females?

3RP 266-67. The State objected both that the question was beyond the scope and irrelevant. 3RP 266. The court sustained the objection, but excused the jury so that Gipson could make a record. *Id.* Gipson argued that the evidence was within the scope and relevant. 3RP 267. The court was unpersuaded and again sustained the objection. Gipson then sought to further explain his position:

The State is claiming that my client incited this situation and that he was the one that was getting the crowd all incited. We're arguing that's not the case. My client isn't the one. It was actually Officer Wofford. He had information when he first arrived upon the scene that there were four to five individual ladies who had gotten into an altercation in the bar.

Upon his arriving at the scene, he sees these four to five individuals. But he doesn't just see them, he notices something quite peculiar about them. These individuals with the lights flashing and based on his training and experience, the fact that they did not look at him made him believe that somehow they were involved. But he didn't use that information. He came and arrested somebody without asking a single question at that point in time. That is our entire theory of the case.

It is our position that this officer's testimony is based on the fact that he needs to substantiate what his actions were and we can show that his actions were wrong. If we can't argue this, then you're depriving Mr. Gipson of putting on his entire theory of the case and evidence that supports it. If the Court is going to say how it's not relevant, I would like to know. But it is relevant. I would

ask, Your Honor, to please allow us to put on our theory of the case and give him a fair shot here because it is relevant.

3RP 268-69. The court still failed to see the connection that Gipson claimed:

I'm not seeing how his not responding to four people walking away incited the actions that followed. I'm not seeing that. You're not making that connection for me.

3RP 269. Gipson tried another tack:

MR. MORRISON: What I'm saying, right, is he had information. He had information that there's four to five females that were in a fight. He sees four females walking away. The lights are flashing and it drew his attention, why are these people not looking at me? And it turns out these people were actually involved in the fight.

THE COURT: I understand that. You don't have to restate the facts again to me. Tell me how that incited anything that happened.

MR. MORRISON: Well, the reason that everyone was – the reason Mr. Fortin and Mr. Gipson were directing their attention to the officers and yelling was they're saying, you're arresting the wrong people. It's those people leaving that are the ones who did this, not her. It's them. They're pointing, hey – he didn't want to hear it.

3RP 269-70. The court again tried to get Gipson to explain why this evidence would be relevant:

You don't have an expert to testify that the officer did anything improper in terms of policy, procedure or the law. So I'm not sure that you have any basis to proceed with some argument that Officer Wofford did anything improper under the law.

3RP 270. The court explained that it was not limiting Gipson's ability to cross-examine, but that the cross had to be relevant to the issues in the case:

Impeachment on a collateral matter is not impeachment on a substantive issue, which is what you're supposed to be going for.

3RP 271. Gipson continued to argue that he was entitled to impeach, but never explained how his line of inquiry was relevant to the offense:

MR. MORRISON: Well, he's training this individual, which he testified to. And when you see something like that in the vehicle, he's passing this information on. He's sitting there telling him earlier –

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

. . .

MR. MORRISON: I can't even ask if he saw four to five females leaving?

THE COURT: We're not going to go into anything other than what he testified to on direct.

MR. MORRISON: He testified to that.

THE COURT: He did not testify to that on direct. The testimony picked up, I believe, at the point where he sees Fortin on the ground and draws his attention to the defendant.

MR. MORRISON: So anything that anybody – anything that other people saw that he didn't testify to, I can't even ask him about?

THE COURT: You're trying to create evidence to impeach him. That's inappropriate.

MR. MORRISON: I'm not creating it. It's in his report.

THE COURT: He didn't testify to it on direct, so you're impeaching him on what he testified to on direct.

3RP 271-72. Despite the court's ruling, Gipson continued to follow the same line of inquiry.

Q. You received a call indicating that there were four or five females that were in an altercation at the bar,

correct?

- A. Yes.
- Q. So was it your goal to apprehend everyone who was involved in this incident while going to the bar?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection,

relevance.

THE COURT: Sustained.

3RP 272. Nevertheless, the court did permit Gipson to ask Wofford about

his intent at the scene:

- Q. What was your goal while going to the bar?
- A. My goal was to watch Officer Horsley and to see how conducted an investigation.
- Q. And you testified earlier that it's your job to enforce the law, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you received a call indicating that there was fighting going on, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you indicated to the jury that fighting in public constitutes the breaking of the law, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And so your purpose of going to the bar is to investigate this fighting, correct?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

3RP 272-73.

The fourth citation to the record shows no limitation on cross:

Q. So you called for backup, but you didn't assist? You called for backup, but you didn't assist?

MS. MONTGOMERY: I'm objecting for relevance at this point.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. MORRISON: It was on direct examination.

3RP 276. Despite this ruling, however, Gipson simply rephrased the question:

- Q. So you testified earlier that your goal was just to observe?
- A. That is the goal, yes.

3RP 276. After some discussion about the layout of the scene, Gipson again asked the question, before he again attempted to explore the irrelevant issues surrounding the arrest of Maxwell:

- Q. On direct examination you stated your goal was that you wanted to observe and train Officer Horsley?
- A. Yes.
- Q. In addition, you also testified that your goal was to determine what happened, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. When you arrived, when you initially arrived, you immediately arrested a young lady, correct?

 $\label{eq:MS.MONTGOMERY:Objection.Based on my prior -} MS.\ MONTGOMERY:\ Objection.\ Based\ on$

THE COURT: Sustained. Sustained.

Move on, Mr. Morrison.

3RP 278-79. Mr. Morrison did not move on:

Q. Did you come into contact with anybody when you first arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection. THE COURT: Sustained, Mr. Morrison.

MR. MORRISON: Your Honor, I would ask to take this outside of the presence of the jury.

THE COURT: Denied. Move along.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. So when you first arrived at the scene, who did you talk to?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. MORRISON: He testified on direct

that he --

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection to speaking objections.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Move on, Mr. Morrison.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. Did you talk to anybody when you arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. Did you do anything when you arrived?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Same objection.

THE COURT: If you can narrow the scope of the timeframe, Mr. Morrison.

MR. MORRISON: Your Honor, I need to make a record outside the presence of the jury –

THE COURT: Denied. Move along,

Mr. Morrison. You've made your record.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. So when you arrived, where did you go?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Your Honor, I'm going to lodge the same objection.

THE COURT: We could focus in -

MR. MORRISON: I need to ask some questions.

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, you've been advised as to proper timeframe. You need to focus on the proper timeframe. You need to move to that point.

MR. MORRISON: I'm not sure what that timeframe is.

THE COURT: Okay. Going to have the jury step out, please.

3RP 279-81. The court excused the jury again, and Gipson again tried to convince the court that his inquiry was not irrelevant, and counsel bordered on contemptuous:

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, you were advised that the scope of the direct commenced when the officer indicated that he observed Mr. Fortin on the ground and he drew his attention to the defendant from his behavior. That is the beginning of the fact pattern as to what happened on the 19th. That was the limit of the scope of direct.

MR. MORRISON: You can't limit me on that.

THE COURT: I can too.

MR. MORRISON: It's error. That is error. You are limiting our ability –

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, I ruled.

MR. MORRISON: – to put on our case, Your Honor. That's not fair. You're picking sides.

THE COURT: No, Mr. Morrison. I've limited you in accordance with the rules of evidence. If you want to look them over –

MR. MORRISON: I have looked them over. And you know darn well -

THE COURT: Bring the jury back.

MR. MORRISON: Please allow me to make

my record for the Court of Appeals.

THE COURT: You've made your record, Mr. Morrison.

MR. MORRISON: I have not completely. You're picking sides here. You're limiting an officer's report.

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, the entire scope of a police report is not relevant necessarily in a trial, and you well know that.

MR. MORRISON: Do you know the facts?

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, do not argue with me. Let me make very clear to you, you should know the rules of evidence. The State limited the scope of their direct, they're entitled to do so. That doesn't open it up for you to go down any path you choose to, and that's the situation.

MR. MORRISON: They can't hide evidence for the sole purpose of not allowing me not to talk about it.

THE COURT: What evidence are they hiding?

MR. MORRISON: They're hiding the fact that he knew darn well that he comes straight up and arrests somebody. They came out –

3RP 281-83. The court interrupted counsel to ask why that would be relevant. Gipson again returned to the theory of unlawful arrest, but failed to cite any relevant authority showing relevance:

THE COURT: How is that relevant?

MR. MORRISON: He testified that – he said that you arrested the wrong person. Well, who is this person? He testified to it.

THE COURT: How is that relevant whatsoever?

MR. MORRISON: I can go into it. He

testified on the stand. You're telling me I can't go into what that meant, you arrested the wrong person. Is that what you're saying?

THE COURT: What I'm telling you is you need to stick to what is relevant.

MR. MORRISON: It is relevant.

THE COURT: Well, I disagree. You can bring back the jury.

(The following occurred in the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: You can be seated.

The objection is sustained. Mr. Morrison.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. What's the first thing that you did in response to this situation?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Same objection.

THE COURT: Rephrase your question, Mr.

Morrison.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. Let's start with, did you pepper-spray someone?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Beyond the scope.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. MORRISON: All right.

3RP 279-84.

Thereafter, Gipson was permitted to ask Wofford how long he was at the scene before he made contact with Fortin, 3RP 284-85; what directed his attention to Fortin, 3RP 285; What Horsley did under his guidance, 3RP 286; and whether he assisted Horsley, *id.* The trial court properly limited Gipson to the scope of direct.

ii. Gipson fails to show an abuse of discretion where the question was asked and answered.

Gipson next claims that he "was not allowed to inquire at all about the lack of investigation or the officers [sic] reasons for responding to the 911 call. RP 273." Brief of Appellant at 28. The actual objection that was sustained on that page was "asked and answered." A review of the previously quoted examination shows that the question had been, in fact, asked and answered:

Q. And in doing so, you already have information that there's four to five people involved, correct?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. MORRISON:

Q. And were you looking for those four to five people in your investigation to do your job?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Objection.

Relevance. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. MORRISON: His job is relevant.

THE COURT: Mr. Morrison, move on.

MR. MORRISON: Okay.

3RP 273-74.

Gipson had specifically already obtained an answer to these questions:

Q. You received a call indicating that there were four or five females that were in an altercation at the bar, correct?

A. Yes.

3RP 272. As quoted above, Gipson already asked Wofford about his purpose at the scene. 3RP 272-73. Because these questions already were asked and answered by the witness, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in moving the questioning along. ER 611(a) ("The court shall exercise reasonable control over ... presenting evidence so as to ... avoid needless consumption of time.").

iii. The trial court provided Gipson with ample opportunities to be heard and make a record.

Gipson's final claim is that the "trial court also refused to permit counsel to take matters outside the presence of the jury. RP 281, 282, 322." Brief of Appellant at 28-29. This claim is without factual support.

As the foregoing excerpts from the report of proceedings show, Gipson was given ample opportunities to argue the objections outside the presence of the jury and to make a record. Ironically, on the very first page Gipson cites, 3RP 281, the court subsequently excused the jury. Indeed, 3RP 282, the second cited page, reports proceedings that then occurred outside the jury's presence. *See* 3RP 282-83. The final citation, 3RP 322, also occurred at the tail-end of a lengthy discussion, 3RP 318-24, that had occurred outside the presence of the jury.

4. Any error would be harmless.

To determine whether the exclusion of evidence is harmless,

Washington uses "the 'overwhelming untainted evidence' test." *State v. Lord*, 161 Wn.2d 276, 295, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). Under this test, if the untainted, admitted evidence is so overwhelming as to necessarily lead to a finding of guilt, the error is harmless. *Id.* Even if the evidence Gipson was relevant, its exclusion amounted to harmless error when reviewed in context. As noted, none of it pertained to the actual element of the crime or Wofford's account of the crime. Moreover, Gipson brought in ample evidence, including from the other officers, to impeach Wofford and argue that Wofford was mistaken or lying. The jury nevertheless convicted. This claim should be rejected.

B. POLICE OFFICERS ARE "PUBLIC OFFICIALS" FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE SENTENCING REFORM ACT.

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